PERFORMANCE OF BROILER CHICKENS FED SUN-DRIED PINEAPPLE

(Ananas comosus) AND ORANGE (Citrus sinensis) PEELS WASTE BASED

DIETS UNDER SINGLE PHASE FEEDING

BY

SHAIBU, Momoh Jimoh MTech/SAAT/2017/6777

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY, MINNA, NIGERIA IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF TECHNOLOGY IN ANIMAL PRODUCTION

JUNE 2021

ABSTRACT

A study which lasted 70 days was conducted to determine the effect of orange(OP) and pineapple(PP) peel wastes as replacement for maize in poultry diets. One hundred and sixty (160) day old broiler chicks were sorted for weight and were then randomly allotted into four different treatments with four replicates and ten birds (10) per replicate, using a completely randomized design model. Four diets containing pineapple and orange peels wastes were formulated to replace maize at 0 % (control), 5 % pineapple peel (PP), 5 % orange peel (OP) and 2.5 % mixture each of pineapple and orange peels (MPO), respectively. Data on growth performance (weight gain, feed intake and feed conversion ratio), apparent nutrient digestibility, carcass characteristics and sensory evaluation were collected. Data collected were subjected to one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA); significant means were separated by using Duncan's Multiple Range Test at (p < 0.05). The growth performance results showed that final weight, daily weight gain and the feed conversion ratio (FCR) were influenced by the peels-based diets. Birds on the control diet had better feed conversion ratio (3.21). The dry matter, crude protein, ash, nitrogen free extract, ether extract and total digestible nutrient(TDN) digestibility were significantly affected (p<0.05) by the peel-based diets. Result revealed that MPO (mixture of orange and pineapple) recorded the highest dry matter, ash and nitrogen free extra (83.55 %, 64.01 % and 95.89 %) respectively. Birds on 5 % orange peel perform better in term of TDN value of 92.38%. Birds on the MPO diet compared favourably with the control in all digestibility parameters measured. The carcass characteristics were evaluated at the end of the feeding trial with one bird per replicate. The live weight, slaughtered weight, dressing percentage, drumstick, back, liver and lungs were influenced (p < 0.05) by the peels-based diets. Also birds on the peels based diets compared favourably with the control in all the parameters measured. The breast meat from the cut part was use for the sensory evaluation. The result showed that the aroma and tenderness were significantly influenced (p<0.05) by the peel based diets. Birds on the MPO peels based diets competed favourably with the control diet. It was concluded that broiler birds could tolerate up to 5 % dietary levels of OP (orange peel), PP (pineapple peel) meal and the mixture of pineapple and orange peel (MPO) without adverse effect as indicated by nutrient digestibility, carcass characteristics and sensory evaluation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Con	htent					
Cove	ver page					
Title	e page	i				
Decl	laration	ii				
Certi	tification	iii				
Dedi	lication	iv				
Ackı	nowledgment	v				
Abst	tract	vii				
Tabl	le of Contents	viii				
List	of Tables	xii				
	CHAPTER ONE					
1.0	INTRODUCTION	1				
1.1	Background of the Study	1				
1.2	Statement of Research Problem	3				
1.3	Justification of the Study	3				
1.4	Aim and Objective of the Study	4				

CHAPTER TWO

2.0	LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1	Origin of Orange and Pineapple	5
2.2	Management, Nutrition and Diets of Broiler Chickens	6
2.3	Agro-industrial By-products	7
2.4	Orange Wastes	7
2.4.1	Use of citrus wastes in feeds of different farm animal species	9
2.4.2	Dried citrus pulp	9
2.5	Pineapple Wastes	10
2.6	Disposal and Environmental Hazard	11
2.7	Bromelain	12
2.8	Energy and Carbon Source	12
2.9	Use of Pineapple Waste as Animal Feed	13
2.9.1	Use of pineapple waste in non-ruminants	14

CHAPTER THREE

3.0	MATERIALS AND METHODS	15
3.1	Experimental Site	15
3.2	Experimental Diets and Design	15
3.3	Source of the Experimental Birds and Ingredients	17
3.4	Management of Experimental Birds	17
3.5	Data Collection	18
3.5.1	Initial weight	18
3.5.2	Feed intake	18
3.5.3	Body weight	18
3.5.4	Mean weight gain	18
3.5.5	Feed conversion ratio	18
3.5.6	Nutrient digestibility	19
3.5.7	Carcass evaluation	19
3.5.8	Sensory evaluation	20
3.6	Chemical Analysis	20
3.7	Data Analysis	20

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0	RESULTS	21
4.1	Proximate Composition of Sun-dried Orange and Pineapple Peels	21
4.2	Proximate Composition of the Experimental Diets	21
4.3	Growth Performance of Broiler Chicken	21
4.4	Apparent Nutrient Digestibility of Broiler Chicken	24
4.5	Carcass Characteristics of Broiler Chicken	28
4.6	Sensory Evaluation of Broiler Chicken	29
	CHAPTER FIVE	
5.0	DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	33
5.1	Discussion	33
5.2	Conclusions	37
5.3	Recommendations	37
	REFERENCES	39

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3.1	Composition of Experimental Diets for Broiler Birds	16
4.1	Proximate Composition of Sun-dried Orange and Pineapple Peels	22
4.2	Proximate Composition and Energy Value (kcal/kg) of the Experimental Diets	23
4.3	Growth Performance of Broiler Chicken	25
4.4	Apparent Nutrient Digestibility of Broiler Chicken	27
4.5	Carcass Characteristics of Broiler Chicken	30
4.6	Sensory Evaluation of Broiler Chicken	32

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background to the Study

In the recent years, poultry nutritionists have aimed their researches towards the use of non- convectional feed ingredients in partial or total replacement of the conventional costly ingredients. Crop residue and agro-industrial by products are being evaluated to access their nutritive potential to support poultry productivity (Oluremi *et al.*, 2007). A number of agro-industrial by-products are generated from fresh Citrus after the main products of interest have been removed or extracted during processing or peeled for direct human consumption as it occurs in the developing countries (Oluremi *et al.*, 2007).

Utilization of agro industrial wastes is a matter of great concern. Citrus and Pineapple waste disposal is a problem for agro-industrial manufacturing companies. Some of the wastes from fruits and vegetables processing may be good sources of essential nutrients and, therefore, could be utilized as part of the feed ingredients. If these wastes are properly processed and incorporated in poultry animal rations, these agro-wastes can serve useful purposes by imparting nutrients as well as flavour to the ration and hence increase its palatability and utilization, besides lowering the cost of feed.

Nutrition and diseases are the two major limiting factors in poultry production, the cost of feed alone accounts for about 70-75 % of the total cost of broiler production (Jurgens *et al.*, 2009). Availability of quality feed at a reasonable cost is therefore the key to successful poultry production. Poultry birds are excellent feed converters and do not suffer social infringement on consumer acceptability like other livestock species such as pig. The foregoing has triggered the rising demand for poultry products like eggs and

meat, given their palatability and high nutritional values. These attributes amongst others, make the poultry industry stand tall amidst rival livestock producing ventures. According to Dipeolu (2004), the development of the poultry industry has been described as the fastest way of ameliorating the animal protein deficiency in third world countries, due to the high turn-over rate associated with poultry production and consequent economic efficiency. Despite the aforementioned benefits derived from poultry, the high cost of its production owing to usage of convectional feed ingredients makes it imperative to explore the use of alternative feed ingredients that are cheaper, locally available and of low human preference in poultry ration formulation. Such alternatives are the sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) and pineapple (*Ananas comosus*) peels among others. In Nigeria, all the varieties of orange and pineapple are consumed on a high scale, and the peels are usually considered as wastes and are seen littering the streets and roadsides. As such, orange and pineapple peels have become an environmental problem. It can be inferred that one of the present day core foci of science is to come up with modalities on how to recycle waste materials that are hazardous to the environment into useful products that can be of benefit to humans. It is on this premise that Ipinloju (2000) suggested that rather than discarding these peels, they can be sun-dried and then milled to obtain fine-particles of orange and pineapple peel meals which can be included in poultry diets.

Some studies were conducted to develop a procedure for converting pineapple waste into animal feed (Sruamsiri, *et al.*, 2007; Makinde, *et al.*, 2011). Problems related to the fresh form were overcome by the sun drying technique of pineapple peels developed by Aboh, *et al.* (2013) which gave dried peels of good quality. However, according to these authors, the dried peels are too compact and hard for its ingestion by animals. Therefore, to overcome this constraint, it is necessary to explore some treatments to be applied to the peels such as crushing, to increase their surface area without degrading the feedstuff nutritional value. Pineapple peel is rich in cellulose, hemicellulose and other carbohydrates. Raw pineapple waste (on DM basis) contains 4 - 8 % crude protein, 60 - 72 % NDF (Neutral detergent fiber), 40 - 75 % soluble sugars (70 % sucrose, 20 % glucose and 10 % fructose) as well as pectin, but it is poor in minerals except Calcium (Muller, 1978; Pereira, *et al.*, 2009).

1.2 Statement of the Research Problem

i. Accumulation of wastes from fruit peels constitutes a source of environmental pollution (Pawlowsky, 2000). If fresh pineapple and orange peels waste are not well disposed, it often gets mouldy and sour, and therefore unlikely to be used as an animal feedstuff.

ii. There is urgent need to address the problem of over dependence on convectional feed for poultry diets as this will contribute to increase the cost of poultry production.

iii. Though dried orange and pineapple peels have been successfully fed to broiler birds but there is still paucity of information regarding the combination of dried orange with pineapple peels as alternative energy sources in poultry diet

1.3 Justification of the Study

i. There is a need to evaluate different energy sources so as to make better choices of which to use depending on prevailing circumstances of cost, scarcity and/or abundance. Ani and Adiegwu, (2005).

ii. These agro-wastes can serve useful purposes by imparting nutrients as well as flavour to the ration and hence increase its palatability and utilization, besides lowering the cost of feed.

iii. There are evidences to show that the fruit by - product are high in energy, thus can be used to replace maize partially (Oluremi *et al.*, 2010).

1.4 Aim and Objectives of the Experiment

The aim of this study is to determine;

The effect of orange and pineapple peel wastes as replacement for maize in poultry diets.

The Objectives of the Study are to;

- I. investigate the growth performance of broiler chickens fed sun dried pineapple orange peels waste based diets.
- II. determine the nutrient digestibility of broiler chickens fed sun-dried orange and pineapple peels wastes based diets.
- III. evaluate the carcass characteristics of broiler chickens fed sun-dried orange and pineapple peels wastes based diets.
- IV. determine the sensory parameters of broiler chickens fed sun-dried orange and pineapple peels wastes based diets.

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Origin of Orange and Pineapple

Oranges probably originated from south East Asia, and were cultivated in China by 2500 BC Nicolosi, *et al.*, (2008), where it was referred to as "Chinese" apple (Ehler 2011). Today, it is grown almost all over the world as a source of food for humans because of its high nutritional values, source of vitamins and other uses. Economically, Oranges are important fruit crops, with an estimated 60 million metric tonnes produced worldwide as at 2005 for a total value of 9 billion dollars. Of this total, half came from Brazil and the United States of America (Goudeau *et al.*, 2008; Bernardi, *et al.*, 2010). The global citrus acreage according to FAO statistics in 2009 was nine million hectares with production put at 122.3 million tons, ranking sweet oranges first among all the fruit crops (Xu *et al.*, 2013). Citrus is widely grown in Nigeria and many other tropical and subtropical regions (Piccinelli *et al.*, 2008). In terms of volume in production, citrus ranks after banana as the world second fruit crop with more than 108 million tons FAO Statistics, (2006).

Brazil is one of the largest fruit producers in the world. According to data from the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE 2017), pineapple is the third largest fruit product, being surpassed only by oranges and bananas. The total planted area of pineapple in 2016 was 100,238 hectares, of which 67,254 hectares were harvested. Production in this same year reached 1,734,627 tons, obtaining an average yield of 25,792 kg·ha-1 (IBGE, 2017). Advantages such as geographic location, wide availability of arable land and climatic conditions favour the leading role of pineapple

cultivation, ensuring jobs and contributing significantly to the national economy (Morgado, *et al.*, 2004; Brito Neto, *et al.*, 2008; and Silva, 2016).

Industrial food production causes a high amount of waste, such as bagasse, husks and pulp residues of the fruits. This waste must be taken to a suitable location, which in general adds a costly procedure to the industry. In addition to the cost of treating this material, many of which are of low efficiency, there are still risks for the continuity of environmental pollution (Timofiecsyk & Pawlowsky, 2000). Since the residues produced have great potential for reuse, together with the concern for the environment, numerous studies have been carried out with the intention of taking advantage of them (Borges, *et al.*, 2004; Ferrari, *et al.*, 2004; and Zhang, *et al.*, 2007). Thus, it is possible to reduce environmental pollution, and increase sustainability, along with obtaining new products with higher added value (Pelizer *et al.*, 2007).

2.2 Management, Nutrition and Diets of Broiler Chickens

Broiler chickens are mainly bred for fast growth and slaughtered when they weigh about 1.8 to 2.2 kg live mass, usually between 6 and 8 weeks of age (Musa *et al.*, 2006). The overall objective for broiler chicken producers is to produce meat with leaner tissue and acceptable lipid content in order to meet modern consumer demands as per the Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) approach (Weltzien, 2009). Since feed expenditures frequently comprise 80 % of broiler chicken production cost (Louw *et al.*, 2011), decisions regarding ration composition have a significant impact upon profitability of any broiler production enterprise. However, ration composition is just one of the many interactive components that must be met for efficient and effective poultry production. Therefore, to ensure fast growth rate and efficient feed conversion in broiler chickens, good management practices which involves effective disease prevention and control, flock maintenance under continuous illumination as well as provision of high quality feeds and water (fed *ad libitum*) are all necessary Amakari and Owen, (2011).

2.3 Agro-industrial By-Products

The use of agro-industrial by-products is a possible solution to the high cost of feed ingredients, which results to high cost of production, since some could be gotten relatively free of monetary cost (Orayaga *et al.*, 2015a). Agro-industrial by-products such as mango fruit, pineapple peels by-products (Guzmán, *et al* 2012; Orayaga, *et al.*, 2015b) and sweet orange fruit peels (Oluremi, *et al.*, 2007; Agu *et al.*, 2010) have been identified as feed resources in animal production that can ameliorate the high cost of animal production, especially in monogastric animals. Mc-Donald *et al.*, (1995) reported that Agro-industrial by-products have low nutritional value due to low nutrient content, high fibre, low palatability or presence of anti - nutritional factors. However, appropriate treatment of nonconventional feedstuff can improve their utilization and thus better the health, productivity and profitability of farm animals (Tuleun *et al.*, 2011).

2.4 Orange Wastes

The dried Citrus sinensis peel can be used up to 5 % in the broiler diet (Chaudry, *et al.*, 2004; Abbasi, *et al.*, 2015) or it can replace maize in broiler diet up to 15 % (Oluremi *et al.*, 2010) without any adverse effect on broiler performance (Ebrahimi *et al.*, 2014). It also reduced serum cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein and increased high-density lipoprotein concentrations (Chaudry, *et al.*, 2004; Ebrahimi *et al.*, 2012; and Ebrahimi *et al.*, 2014). However, when dried citrus peel was incorporated at the 10 % level, it increased feed intake and feed conversion ratio, but reduced daily body weight gain and liver and abdominal fat in birds (Oluremi *et al.*, 2010; Agu *et al.*, 2010).

Sweet oranges (Citrus sinensis) are produced in many tropical and subtropical climates. Traditionally, the orange peel has been used for ruminant nutrition, fertilizer, essential oils extraction, pectin extraction, industrial enzyme production, and single cell protein production (López et al., 2010). Sweet orange (Citrus sinensis) fruits are produced on a large quantity in Nigeria. Over one hundred and forty (140) countries of the world produce citrus fruits and Brazil is at top the list (FAO, 2013). Nigeria also produces a large quantity of oranges even though it is not listed among ten top producers of the world (Kajo, 2012). Quantitatively, over 100 million metric tons of sweet orange fruits are produced worldwide annually (FAO, 2013). A large percentage of these citrus fruit are either fed to agro-processing industries for processing into various consumable products or consumed fresh locally. Whichever way the citrus fruits are handled, many by-products are generated which consist of 60-65 % peel, 30-35 % pulp (dry matter) and 0-10 % seeds, resulting from processing of citrus fruits (Ipinjolu, 2000). The proximate compositions and energy value of the peels are indicators of its potential as a feed resource capable of replacing maize (Oluremi et al., 2007). The chemical composition of sweet orange peel is similar to that of maize in many respects: Whereas, maize has 8.9% crude protein (CP), 2.7 % crude fibre (CF), 4.0 % ether extract (EE), 1.3 ash % Aduku, (2004) and 72 % nitrogen free extract (NFE) (McDonald et al., (1995) while, the crude protein of sweet orange fruit peel meal on dry matter basis ranges from 9.30 to 10.96 %, ether extract 2.35 to 2.90 %, nitrogen free extract 65.30 to 67.95 % and ash 5.07 to 5.56 %. Orayaga et al. (2010) reported the proximate composition of the peels as 7.22 % CP, 12.32 % CF, 1.96 % EE, 3.67 % ash and 61.49 % NFE and calculated Metabolizable energy of 3167 kcal/kg.

2.4.1 Use of citrus wastes in feeds of different farm animal species

2.4.2 Dried citrus pulp

The citrus pulp contains 60–65 % peel, 30–35 % internal tissues and up to 10% seeds (Crawshaw, 2004). Due to the high moisture and sugar contents, and presence of mould and yeast, citrus pulp gets rapidly deteriorated (Ashbell, et al., 1988; Nam, et al., 2009) and may cause environmental pollution. Therefore, it should be sun dried and pelleted to increase density or should be ensiled. While drying, generally lime is added to neutralize the free acids, bind the fruit pectins and release water (Wing 2003). The dried pulp is primarily a carbonaceous feedstuff as it contains 5-10 % CP and 6.2 % EE, 10–40 % soluble fibre (pectins), 54 % water-soluble sugars, 1–2 % calcium due to the addition of lime and 0.1% phosphorus. Carotene content is low (Crawshaw 2004; Bakshi. et al., 2013). Citrus pulp is a rich source of trace elements; however, their concentration is much below the maximum tolerance limit for ruminants. The composition of dried citrus pulp is variable and depends mainly on the relative proportions of skins and seeds, which varies according to the citrus species, variety and the harvesting season. It is much less valuable to pigs and poultry due to high fibre content and presence of limonin in the seeds, which is toxic to monogastric (Gohl, 1982).

Poultry: - Dried sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) pulp can be incorporated up to 10 % in layer diet without any adverse effect on feed intake, egg production and egg weight (Yang, 1985). Nazok, *et al.* (2010) found that utilization of dried citrus pulp up to 16 % in diet significantly increased serum glucose and high-density lipoprotein and reduced cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein and triglycerides. Results of this study suggested that use of 12 % dried citrus pulp in laying hen diets has no adverse effect on performance and egg quality of laying hens in early phase of production. The level of

citrus pulp in the broiler diet should not exceed 5–10 % because of the presence of nonstarch polysaccharides which impair growth, lower feed efficiency and reduce carcass yields (Mourao *et al.*, 2008). The use of dried orange pulp at 2 % level in the diet improved feed intake and body weight gain, decreased liver and abdominal fat and also the serum triglyceride level in broiler chicken (Abbasi *et al.*, 2015).

Rabbits: - Hon *et al.* (2009) showed that the dried sweet orange pulp could replace maize up to 20–30% level in rabbit ration, without affecting their growth performance.

Ruminants: - Despite the bitter taste, it is readily accepted by beef and dairy cattle and is as palatable as sugarcane molasses. It may be mixed with pressed pulp prior to drying, which increases the TDN (total digestible nutrient) content in the dried product without affecting the keeping quality of the pulp. Cattle can consume up to 3 kg/day when offered ad libitum (Gohl 1978). It could replace 50% of ground maize in the diet of fattening steers without reducing BW gain, quality and carcass yield (Hendrickson *et al.*, 1978).

2.5 Pineapple Wastes

Pineapple (*Ananas comosus*) belongs to Bromeliaceae family and is known as the queen of fruits, because of its excellent flavour and taste (Baruwa, 2013). Pineapple is the third most important tropical fruit in the world after banana and citrus (Bartholomew *et al.*, 2003). Thailand is the largest producer of pineapple, contributing 8.9 % of world production (FAO, 2015). Mature fruit contains a protein digesting enzyme, bromelin and substantial amounts of sugar, citric acid, malic acid, vitamins A and B (Joy, 2010; Debnath, 2012). Green pineapple is also used for making pickles. The post-harvest processing of pineapple fruits yields crowns, peels, cores, fresh trimmings and the pomace as pineapple waste, which account for approximately 30-35 % of the fresh fruit weight, (Hepton; 2003; Sruamisri 2007). The wet bran can be fed

fresh to animals, ensiled for longer storage or dried until it contains less than 12% moisture. Pineapple waste contains 4–8 % CP, 60–72 % NDF, 40–75 % soluble sugars (70 % sucrose, 20 % glucose and 10 % fructose) as well as pectin, but it is poor in minerals (Muller, 1978; Pereira, 2009). The total soluble sugars and reducing sugar were higher in pineapple pulp than pineapple waste (Hemalatha, 2013; and Hossain, 2015)

Tropical and subtropical fruits processing have considerably higher ratios of byproducts than the temperate fruits (Schieber *et al.*, 2001). Pineapple by-products are not exceptions and they consist basically of the residual pulp, peels, stem and leaves. The increasing production of pineapple processed items, results in massive waste generations. This is mainly due to selection and elimination of components unsuitable for human consumption. Besides, rough handling of fruits and exposure to adverse environmental conditions during transportation and storage can cause up to 55% of product waste (Nunes *et al.*, 2009).

These wastes are usually prone to microbial spoilage thus limiting further exploitation. Further, the drying, storage and shipment of these wastes is cost effective and hence efficient, inexpensive and eco-friendly utilization is becoming more and more necessary. Except for high quality fruits that are selected for shipment, most pineapples are consumed fresh or as canned products. However, low quality fruits do not fetch market and are left on farms. Besides, during orange and pineapple processing, large amount of unusable wastes material are generated (Tanaka *et al.*, 1999). Reports have shown that 40-80 % of pineapple fruit is discarded as waste having high biological oxygen demand (BOD) and chemical oxygen demand (COD) values Ban-koffi and Han, (1990).

2.6 Disposal and Environmental Hazard

Fruit residues may cause serious environmental problems, since it accumulates in agroindustrial yards without having any significant and commercial value. Since disposal of these wastes is expensive due to high costs of transportation and a limited availability of landfills they are unscrupulously disposed causing concern as environmental problems. Furthermore, the problem of disposing by-products is further aggravated by legal restrictions. A high level of BOD and COD in pineapple wastes add to further difficulties in disposal. Researcher have focused on co-digestion of pineapple waste along with several other fruit and vegetable wastes, manure, and slaughter house wastes to reduce volatile solids by 50 to 65 % (Alvarez and Liden, 2007). Recently, composting of pineapple wastes using earthworm is reported (Mainoo *et al.*, 2009). They have reported that vermicomposting rapidly decomposed about 99% of pineapple pulp wet mass while peel had a loss in weight by almost 87 %. The pH of the waste changed from acidic to a neutral to alkaline during composting.

2.7 Bromelain

Bromelain is probably the most valuable and the most studied component from the pineapple waste. It has been investigated since 1894 (Devakate *et al.*, 2009). It is a crude extract of pineapple that contains, among other components, various closely related proteinases, demonstrating, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, antiedematous, anti-inflammatory, antithrombotic (Bhui *et al.*, 2009), fibrinolytic activities and has potential as an anticancer agent (Chobotova *et al.*, 2009). It is also used in food industry as meat tenderizer and as a dietary supplement (Maurer, 2001). Bromelain is primarily present in stem, known as stem bromelain (EC 3.4.22.32) and also in fruit (EC 3.4.22.33), however small amount of bromelain is also found in pineapple waste (Hebbar *et al.*, 2008).

2.8 Energy and Carbon Source

Pineapple wastes generally comprise of organic substances and hence the disposal problem could be attenuated by anaerobic digestion and composting. Some of these wastes could have industrial applications for gas generations Mbuligwe and Kassenga, (2004). Biomethanation of fruit wastes is the best suited waste treatment as it both adds energy in the form of methane and also results in a highly stabilized effluent with almost neutral pH and odorless property (Bardiya et al., 1996). They utilized pineapple waste for the production of methane using semi-continuous anaerobic digestion which could produce up to 1682 ml/day of biogas with methane content of 51 % in maximum. Rani and Nand (2004) reported that different conditions of pineapple peels gave biogas yields ranging from 0.41-0.67 m3/kg volatile solids with methane content of 41-6 %. Solid pineapple waste has been used to produce volatile fatty acids and methane (Babel et al., 2004). They reported that at higher alkalinity, up to 53 g volatile fatty acids were produced from one kg of pineapple waste. Acetic, propionic, butyric, i-butyric and valeric acids were produced along with methane. Reports on utilizing pineapple waste as the carbon substrate to produce hydrogen gas from municipal sewage sludge is found (Wang et al., 2006). The waste contained carbon and nitrogen source for cell growth and hydrogen production. In other report, pineapple fruit wastes have been suggested as a source of carbon for bacterial production of cellulose by Acetobacter xylinum (Kurosumi et al., 2009).

2.9 Use of Pineapple Waste as a Feed

Feed production has become a new industry. The utilization of agro-industrial wastes as animal feed seems to mitigate the difficulties of forage shortage during critical seasons. Several studies have focused on exploiting pineapple wastes as feed for ruminants. The outer peel or skin and core from the pineapple canning industries, called bran, and the leaves are being utilized as feed for ruminants (Tran, 2006). The nutritive value of pineapple peel has been reported (Negesse *et al.*, 2009). Sruamisri, (2007), that in China, pineapple waste from the field or from the cannery are being used as dairy feed. Cattle preferred fermented pineapple waste with higher acidity to fresh waste. Sruamisri, (2007) reported that dried and ensiled pineapple waste can be used as supplemental roughage and could replace 50 % roughage in the total mixed ration for dairy cattle. Besides, researchers have also focused on the performance and the apparent digestibility of pineapple by-product when used as feed. On feeding twenty-four cross bred local goats for 80 days, it was found that dehydrated pineapple by-products would increase the digestibility with increase in weight of the animals (Costa *et al.*, 2007).

A survey reports that in Nigeria, pineapple and orange peels are also used for feeding small ruminants and that they could be used after proper processing (Onwuka *et al.*, 1997). Another report on suitability of pineapple waste as animal feed and pulp for human consumption is also found (Cabrera *et al.*, 2000). However, some researchers have reported that by-product of pineapple processing industry is not considered attractive as an animal feed because of high fiber content and soluble carbohydrates with low protein content (Correia *et al.*, 2004).

2.9.1 Use of pineapple waste in non-ruminants

Pigs did not relish dried pineapple bran offered ad libitum. The high Crude fibre content (20%) limits its use in pigs of < 27 kg body weight gain. However, incorporation up to 50 % in the ration of older pigs (57 kg BW) improved BW gain and feed conversion efficiency. Beyond 50 % in the ration, these parameters were depressed (Arthington, 2001). Inclusion of 15 % pineapple bran in chick diets reduced the FCR and 20 % inclusion decreased weight (Hutagalung, 1973).

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Experimental Site

This research was carried out at the Poultry Unit of Department of Animal Production Teaching and Research Farm of School of Agriculture and Agricultural Technology, Gidan kwano Campus Minna, Niger state. Minna is located between latitude 4° 30 and 9° 37 North and longitude 6°33 and 6°45 East. Niger State experiences distinct dry and wet seasons with annual rainfall of 1100 and 1600 mm in the northern part. The rainy seasons last for about 120 days in the Northern part, to about 150 days in the Southern part of the State. The temperature is between 21° c minimum and 36.5° c maximum; the humidity is about 53.5 % while the altitude is about 299 m above sea level. Presently, the state covers a total land area of 76,363.0 square kilometre or about 8 % of Nigeria total land area (Afolayan *et al.*, 2012).

3.2 The Experimental Diets and Design

The experimental birds were randomly allocated into four treatment diets namely, T1(control), T2(PP) (5 % pineapple peels waste), T3(OP) (5 % orange peels waste), and T4(MPO) (2.5 % each of orange and pineapple peels wastes) at the rate of 40 birds per treatment in a completely randomly design. Each dietary treatment was replicated four times with a total of 10 birds per replicate. The experimental diets were formulated using pineapple peels, orange peels and their mixture. The pineapple and orange peels waste were sun-dried on a clean concrete floor with constant turning and was oven dried until a 10 % moisture content was attained. Part of the dried peels was grounded to fine powder and pass through a 2 mm sieve and mixed with the other ingredients as presented on Table 3.1

Ingredients	T1(Control)(kg)	T2(PP)(kg)	T3(OP)(kg)	T4(MPO)(kg)
Maize	51.00	46.00	46.00	46.00
Maize offal	9.00	9.00	9.00	9.00
Ground nut cake	17.00	17.00	17.00	17.00
Full fat soya	14.00	14.00	14.00	14.00
Fishmeal(imported)	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00
Orange peel	0.00	0.00	5.00	2.50
Pineapple peel	0.00	5.00	0.00	2.50
Limestone	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00
Bone meal	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00
Palm oil	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Salt	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
*Vit/min Premix	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
L-Lysine	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Dl-Methionine	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Total	100	100	100	100
Calculated				
analysis				
%Crude protein	20.52	20.07	20.07	20.07
ME/Kcal/kg	3089.37	2917.02	2917.02	2917.02
%Ether extract	7.00	6.81	6.81	6.81
% Crude fibre	4.05	3.94	3.94	3.94
%Calcium	1.45	1.45	1.45	1.45
%Phosphorus	0.45	0.45	0.45	0.45
%Lysine	1.12	1.12	1.12	1.12
%Meth + Cys	0.61	0.59	0.59	0.59

Table 3.1. Composition of Experimental Diets for Broiler Birds Under a Single

Phase Feeding Regime

Vitamin – Mineral Premix. Vitamin A 1500 IU, Vitamin D 300 IU, Vitamin E 3.00, Vitamin K 0.25 g, Thiamine 0.2 mg, Riboflavin 0.6mg, Pantothenic acid 1.00 mg, Pyridoxine 0.4999 mg, Niacin 4.00 mg, Vitamin B12 0.002 mg, Folic acid 0.10 mg, Biotin 0.008 mg, Choline chloride 0.05g, Antioxidant 0.012 g, Manganese 0.0096 g, Zinc 0.0060 g, Copper 0.0006g, Iodine 0.006 g, Iodine 0.00014 g, Selenium 0.024, Cobalt 0.004 mg.

Keys: T1(control), T2(PP) = Pineapple peels waste, T3(OP) = Orange peels waste, and T4(MPO) = Mixtures of orange and pineapple peels waste. ME: Metabolizable energy, meth = methionine and cys = cystein

3.3 Source of the Experimental Birds and Ingredients

One hundred and sixty (160) day old (Ross 308) broiler chicks were purchased from a reputable hatchery (Agrited) in Ibadan which was used for the experiment. Fresh composite pineapple and orange peels were collected from the retailer sell points in Kure Ultra-Modern Market in Minna Metropolis where the retailers peeled the fruits for consumers and discard the peels. The feed ingredients, soya bean, fishmeal, bone meal, limestone, maize offals, groundnut cake were purchased from Sammy agro venture, Nigeria limited, located at U.K Bello way Minna, Niger State. Maize, palm oil and salt were purchased from Central Market Minna, Niger State.

3.4 Managements of the Experimental Birds

Before the commencement of the feeding trial, the Poultry Unit was washed thoroughly with disinfectant (Vinkokill 150ml/25 litres of water) and allowed to dry to prevent the spread of diseases from the previous research. Feeders and drinkers were washed regularly to prevent faecal and microbial contamination. The experimental birds were subjected to brooding with kerosene lamp and charcoal as sources of illumination and heat respectively. Birds were vaccinated following the vaccine routine guide for the locality, infectious bursal disease (Gumboro) vaccine was given at week one and week three while Newcastle vaccine (lasota) was given at week two and week four through drinking water at the rate of 0.005ml/bird and in order to reduce stress caused by the vaccination to the birds, anti-stress (Vitalyte 1g to 2 litres of water) was administered before and after vaccination. The birds were raised on a deep litter system. Feeds and water was given *ad-libitum* throughout the period of the experiment.

3.6 Data Collection

The following parameters was measured and recorded: initial body weight of the birds at the commencement of the experiment and weekly thereafter, feed intake and body weight. These parameters were used to calculate weight gain, feed conversion ratio, apparent nutrient digestibility and carcass evaluation was also determined. The sensory attributes were also evaluated.

3.6.1 Initial weight- The birds was weighed with Salter digital weighing scale (SF 400) on arrival and the result was recorded accordingly (Malik *et al.*, 2010).

3.6.2 Feed intake

Feed was weighed for the birds in each replicates, the amount consumed for the day was obtained by differences of feed given and feed refused (Malik *et al.*, 2010).

Average daily feed intake= weight of feed given-weight of the refused feed Number of birds in the replicate

3.6.3 Body weight

The birds were weighed at the beginning of the experiment and subsequently on weekly interval throughout the eight weeks of the experiment (Malik *et al.*, 2010).

3.6.4 Mean weight gain

The mean body weight gain was obtained by difference between the body weight for the proceeding week and current week.

Mean weight gain (g) = Present week eight (g) - Previous week weight (g)

3.6.5 Feed conversion ratio

It was calculated as the ratio of feed intake to weight gain.

Feed Conversion Ratio (FCR) = $\frac{\text{Average weekly feed intake (g)}}{\text{Average weekly weight gain(g)}}$ (Egbewande, 2009)

3.6.5 Nutrient digestibility

In the last week of feeding trial, a nutrient digestibility trial was conducted using the total collection method. This was done in specially designed metabolism cages having separate watering and feeding troughs. One bird per replicate was selected and placed in a metabolism cage. The birds were allowed to adjust to the conditions in the cages for three (3) days after which total faecal collection was carried out for five days. Dietary feed was weighed and water was served *ad-libitum* daily for four days. Total droppings were collected for four days and oven dried daily at 80° C for 24hours using hot air oven (Gallenkamp 300-inch series) and the replicates from each treatment was bulked and used for proximate analysis at the Department of Animal Production Laboratory.

Apparent Digestibility = $\frac{\text{Nutrients in feed consumed-nutrients voided in droppings}}{\text{Nutrients in feed consumed}} \times 100$

(Aduku and Olukosi, 1990)

3.6.6 Carcass evaluation

At the end of the feeding trial of eight (8) weeks, carcass evaluation was done. Four birds per treatments were fasted for 12 hours as recommended by Aduku and Olukosi (2000) and final weights of all the birds were taken using a sensitive weighing scale. The fasted birds were weighed before slaughter and immediately after the slaughter, they were dressed and re-weighed. The weights of the carcass cuts: drumstick, thigh, back, wing, shoulder, breast and neck and visceral organs: lungs, liver, spleen, heart, gall bladder, gizzard, intestine and proventriculus were also taken as the percentage of the dressing weight. All other weights were expressed as percentage of live weight.

3.6.7 Sensory evaluation of birds

The sensory evaluation was performed according to the methodology of Dutcosky (2007). The cut sample of the breast was cooked for twenty minutes in 500 mls of water with a pinch of common salt in an aluminum pot without any spices added. The meats were served to 20 semi-trained Panelists, comprising of Staff and Students which were randomly selected from School of Agriculture and Agricultural Technology, Federal University of Technology, Minna, Nigeria. A 9- point hedonic rating scale from 1 to 9 (1: disliked extremely; 2: dislike very much; 3: dislike moderately; 4: dislike slightly; 5: neither like nor dislike; 6: like slightly; 7: like moderately; 8: like very much; 9: like extremely) was used to evaluate the following characteristics of the chicken meat: aroma, juiciness, appearance, flavour, colour, texture and over all acceptability.

3.7 Chemical Analysis

The proximate composition of the experimental diets and faecal droppings were carried out at the Department of Animal Production Laboratory according to the procedures of AOAC (2000). The result was used to calculate apparent nutrient digestibility.

3.8 Data Analysis

All data generated were analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and where significant differences occurred, the means was separated using Duncan Multiple Range Test as contained in the SAS package (2015) version 15.0.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0

RESULTS

4.1. Proximate Composition of Sun-dried Orange and Pineapple Peels

The proximate results (Table 4.1) showed that moisture content values were 9.20 % (Orange peel), 8.20 (Pineapple peel) and 8.50% (Mixture of pineapple and orange peels) respectively. The crude protein values ranges between 5.60 % and 7.00 %. The crude fibre results ranges between 1.50% (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) and 3.50% (pineapple peel). The proximate result showed that ether extract values ranges 3.00 and 5.00 %. The ash content result ranges between 6.00 and 6.10. The NFE was higher in (pineapple peel) 74.60 and lower in 70.69 (orange peel). The energy value was 3138.15 (orange peel) 3061.20 (pineapple peel) and 3180.80 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) kcal/kg respectively.

4.2 Proximate Composition and Energy Value of the Experimental Diets

The proximate composition and energy (Kcal/kgME) of the experimental diets are presented in Table 4.2. Dry matter values ranges from 89.20 % in (Pineapple peel) to 92.60 % in (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) were quite high and showed tendency to be stored for considerable period of time without spoilage and microbial growth. The crude protein of diets T1 (control), T2 (pineapple peel), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) are 23.80, 23.45, 24.50, and 22.40 respectively., The crude fibre ranges between 4.00-5.00 % throughout the treatment groups. The value for ether extract ranges between 14.50 to 17.50 %. The nitrogen free extract of the diets was T1 (control) 36.00 %, T2 (pineapple peel) 36.75 %, T3 (orange peel) 34.00 % and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) 41.00 % respectively.

4.3 Growth Performance of Broiler Chicken Fed Sun-dried Orange and Pineapple Peels Based Diets Under Single Phase Feeding

The results of growth performance of broiler chickens fed sun-dried orange and pineapple peels based diets under a single phase feeding are presented in Table 4.3.

Table 4.1 Proximate Composition and Energy Value of Orange(OP) and

Parameters	SDOP	SDPP	МРО
Dry matter	90.80	91.80	91.5
Moisture content	9.20	8.20	8.50
Crude Protein	7.00	5.60	6.90
Crude Fibre	2.10	3.50	1.50
Ether Extract	5.00	3.00	5.00
Ash Content	6.01	6.10	6.00
NFE	70.69	74.60	72.10
Energy(Kcal/kg)	3138.15	3061.20	3183.80

Pineapple(PP) Peels

SDOP (Sun-dried orange peel), SDPP (sun-dried pineapple peel) MPO (Mixture of pineapple and orange peels) and NFE (nitrogen free extract)

Treatment (%)	T1(control)	T2(PP)	T3(OP)	T4(MPO)
Parameters				
Dry matter	90.80	89.20	90.00	92.60
Crude protein	23.80	23.45	24.50	22.40
Crude fibre	4.00	5.00	4.50	4.50
Ether extract	17.00	16.50	17.50	14.50
Ash content	10.00	8.50	9.00	10.00
NFE	36.00	36.75	34.00	41.20
Energy	3488.00	3455.40	3531.40	3445.30
(kcal/kgME)				

 Table 4.2. The Proximate Composition and Energy (Kcal/kgME) of the Experimental Diets

NFE (Nitrogen free extract)

T1=control

T2 (PP) =Pineapple peel

T3 (OP) =Orange peel

T4 (MPO) =Mixture of orange and pineapple peels

The results show that final weight, daily weight and the feed conversion ratio (FCR) were significantly influenced (p<0.05) by the peel based diets. However, the initial weight and feed intake were not affected statistically. The result show that there were significant differences (p<0.05) in the final weight of birds fed sun dried peels based diets. The final weight results ranges between 1200-1410g. The birds fed control diet was significantly (p<0.05) higher than the other treatment groups. However, the group fed 5 % orange peel recorded the least value (p<0.05). The result show that there was significant (p<0.05) in the daily weight of birds fed sun dried peels based diets. The daily weight results ranges between 14.52 – 17.15g. The birds fed control diet was significantly (p<0.05) higher than the other treatment groups. However, the group fed 5 % orange peel recorded the least value (p<0.05). The feed conversion ratio was significantly (p<0.05) bigher than the other treatment groups. However, the group fed 5 % orange peel recorded the least value (p<0.05). The feed conversion ratio was significantly (p<0.05) bigher than the other treatment groups. However, the group fed 5 % orange peel recorded the least value (p<0.05). The feed conversion ratio was influenced (p<0.05) by the peel based diets. The feed conversion ratio was influenced (p<0.05) by the peel based diets. The feed conversion ratio results ranges between 3.21-3.60. The feed conversion ratio result shows that birds fed the control diet (T1) were significantly better than the other groups. However, the control and the other dietary treatments were significantly (p<0.05) different.

4.4 Apparent Nutrient Digestibility of Broiler Chicken fed sun-dried Orange and Pineapple Peels Based Diets Under Single Phase Feeding

The results of the apparent nutrient digestibility of broiler chickens fed diets containing sun-dried orange and pineapple peels based diets are presented in Table 4.4. The results showed that dry matter, ash, NFE (Nitrogen free extract) and TDN (Total digestibility nutrient) digestibility were influenced positively by the peels bases diets. However, the crude fibre digestibility was not influenced (p>0.05) by the dietary treatments. The dry matter digestibility results showed that birds on T2 (pineapple peel) and T3 (orange peel) diets had similar values which were significant (p<0.05). Birds on T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) treatment had highest dry matter digestibility 83.55 % than all the other

			Treatment				
Parameters	T1	T2	T3	T4	SEM	P/Value	L/S
Initial Weight (g)	37.83	38.30	38.03	37.95	0.052	0.059	NS
Final Weight (g)	1410.25 ^a	1340.58 ^b	1200.22 ^d	1320.49 °	22.790	0.001	*
Daily Weight (g)	17.15 ^a	16.27 ^b	14.525 ^d	16.04 °	0.285	0.001	*
Daily Feed	55.05	54.21	52.41	55.04	0.481	0.163	NS
Intake (g)							
FCR	3.21 ^a	3.33 ^b	3.60 ^d	3.43°	0.031	0.001	*

 Table 4.3 Growth Performance of Broiler Chicken Fed Sun-dried Orange and

 Pineapple Peels Based Diets Under Single Phase Feeding regime

^{abcd} Means on the same row having different superscripts are significantly different

(P<0.05)

SEM: = Standard Error of Mean, LS=level of significant, FCR = (Feed conversion

ration).

T1=control

T2 (PP) = Pineapple peel

T3 (OP) = Orange peel

T4 (MPO) = Mixture of orange and pineapple peels

treatments, the least was recorded by birds on T3 (orange peel) diet 78.78 %. The crude protein digestibility values ranged between 69.39 % and 76.22 %. The birds on T1 (control), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) had similar (p>0.05) values. Similarly, birds on T2 (pineapple peel), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) also had similar (p>0.05) values. However, birds on T1 (control) diet had significantly higher (p<0.05) CP digestibility than those of T2 (pineapple peel) diet. The ash content digestibility ranges from 44.52 % to 64.01 %. The ash content digestibility results showed that birds on T1 (control) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) diets had similar (p>0.05) values; birds on T2 (pineapple peel) and T3 (orange peel) diets also had similar. However, birds on T1 (control) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) are significantly (p<0.05) higher in terms of ash digestibility value than birds on T2 (pineapple peel) and T3 (orange peel) diets. The ether extract digestibility result ranges between 87.57% and 89.51%. Birds on T1 (control), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) diets had similar (p>0.05) values, birds on T2 (pineapple peel), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) diets also had similar (p>0.05) values. However, birds on T1 (control) diet had the highest EE while the least was recorded by birds on T2 (pineapple peel) diet. The NFE digestibility results showed that birds on diet T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) had the higher (p<0.05) value than those of birds in the other treatments. Birds on T1 (control) and T2 (pineapple peel) had similar (p>0.05) values, however, they had higher value than birds on T3 (orange peel) diets. The total digestibility nutrient (TDN) result showed that birds on T1, T2 and T4 had similar values which were significant (p<0.05). However, bird on T3 had the highest total digestibility nutrient of 92.38% than the other group. The dietary treatments did not influence (p<0.05) the crude fibre digestibility.

-	Treatments						
Parameters	T1	T2	T3	T4	SEM	P/Values	L/S
Dry Matter	83.03 ^b	78.96°	78.78°	83.55 ^a	0.839	0.005	*
Crude	76.22 ^a	69.39 ^b	74.10 ^{ab}	71.53 ^{ab}	1.087	0.067	*
Protein							
Ash	59.12 ^a	44.52 ^b	47.91 ^b	64.01 ^a	3.119	0.009	*
Crude Fibre	63.30	54.86	62.12	56.28	1.623	0.137	NS
Ether Extract	89.51ª	87.57 ^{ab}	89.04 ^{ab}	88.78 ^b	0.312	0.103	*
NFE	93.26 ^b	92.83 ^b	88.26 ^c	95.89ª	1.063	0.004	*
TDN	88.76 ^b	88.23 ^b	92.38ª	89.37 ^b	3.729	0042	*

Table 4.4 Apparent Nutrient Digestibility of Broiler Chicken fed Sun-driedOrange and Pineapple Peels Based Diets Under Single Phase Feeding

^{abc} Means on the same row having different superscripts are significantly different (P<0.05)

SEM: = Standard Error of Mean,

NFE: = (Nitrogen free extract), TDN=Total digestibility nutrient

T1 = Control

T2 (PP) =Pineapple peel

T3 (OP) =Orange peel

T4 (MPO) =Mixture of orange and pineapple peels

4.5 Carcass Characteristics of Broiler Chicken fed Sun-dried Orange and Pineapple Peels Based Diets Under Single Phase Feeding

The results of carcass characteristics of broiler chickens fed sun-dried pineapple and orange peels based diets is presented in Table 4.5. The results showed that live weight, slaughtered weight, dressing percentage, were all significant (p<0.05). The values for the live weight ranges between 1200-1410g. Birds on T1 (control), T2 (pineapple peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) had similar (p>0.05) values, while birds on T2 (pineapple peel), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) also had similar (P>0.05) values. However, birds fed diets T1 (control) had the highest live weight while the lowest was recorded by diet T3 (orange peel). The slaughtered weight results ranges between 1120-1360g. Birds on T1 (control), T2(pineapple peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) had similar (p>0.05) values, while birds on T2 (pineapple peel), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) also had similar (p>0.05) values. However, birds fed diets T1 (control) had the highest live weight while the lowest was recorded by diet T3 (orange peel). The values for the dressing percentage ranges between 169.00g -73.73 %. Birds on T3 (orange peel) and T4(mixture of pineapple and orange peel) had similar (p>0.05) values, while birds on T1(control) and T2(pineapple peel) also had similar (p>0.05) values. However, birds fed diets T4(mixture of pineapple and orange peels) had the highest dressing % while the lowest was recorded by birds on diet T2(pineapple peel).

The result of the cut parts such as drumstick and back were influenced (p< 0.05). The result of drumstick % ranges between 8.99 % and 10.01 %. Birds on T1 (control), T2 (pineapple peel) and T3 (orange peel) diets had similar value (p>0.05). The result of back % ranges between 12.10 % and 10.01 %. Birds on diets T1 (control), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) had similar (p>0.05) values. Birds

on diets T1 (control) T2 (pineapple peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peels) also had similar values (p>0.05).

The results also showed that internal organs such as liver and lungs were also influenced (p<0.05) by the peels based diets. The result of liver % ranges between 2.07 % and 2.94 %. Birds on diets T1 (control), T2 (pineapple peel) and T3 (orange peel) had similar (p>0.05) values. The result of lung % ranges between 0.54 % and 0.73 %. Birds on diets T2 (PP), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) had similar (p>0.05) values. Birds on diets T1 (control), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) had similar (p>0.05) values. Birds on diets T1 (control), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) also had similar (p>0.05) values. However, birds on T2 (pineapple peel) diet recorded the highest value, while birds on diet T1 (control) treatment recorded the least value. The carcass weight, cut parts such as breast %, thigh %, wing %, and internal organ such as gizzard heart and spleen were not influenced (p>0.05) by the peels based diets.

4.6 Sensory Properties of Broiler Chicken fed Sun-dried Orange and Pineapple Peels Based Diets Under Single Phase Feeding

The results of the sensory properties of broiler birds fed sun-dried pineapple and orange peels based diets are presented in Table 4.5. The results showed that aroma and tenderness were influenced (p<0.05). The result of aroma ranges between 6.20 to 7.33. Birds on diets T1 (control), T2 (pineapple peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) had similar (p>0.05) values. Birds on diets T2 (pineapple peel), T3 (orange peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) also had similar values (p>0.05).

However, birds on T1 (control) diet was significantly (p<0.05) higher than the other treatments. The result of tenderness ranges between 6.33 and 7.73. Birds on diets T1 (control), T2 (pineapple peel) and T4 (mixture of pineapple and orange peel) had similar (p>0.05) values. Birds on diets T2 (pineapple peel), T3 (orange peel) and T4

	Treatments										
Parameters	T1	T2	T3	T4	SEM	P/Value.	L/S				
Live	1410 ^a	1340 ^{ab}	1200 ^b	1320 ^{ab}	33.959	0.151	*				
weight(g)											
Slaughter	1360 ^a	1250 ^{ab}	1120 ^b	1270 ^{ab}	34.098	0.066	*				
weight (g)				~~~ ~ ~ ~ ~	• • • • • •	a a = 4					
Carcass	972.50	935.00	855.00	975.00	24.186	0.274	NS				
weight(g)	co oob		at cosh	72 723	0.(10	0.010	*				
Dressing %	69.00 ^b	69.85 ^b	71.52 ^{ab}	73.73 ^a	0.612	0.013	ጥ				
Cut part [percentage of slaughtered weight (%)]											
Breast	15.48	15.47	15.43	17.26	0.341	0.148	NS				
Thigh	12.43	12.58	12.53	12.43	0.173	0.990	NS				
Drumstick	8.99 ^b	9.48 ^{ab}	9.31 ^b	10.01 ^a	0.135	0.035	*				
Wings	8.97	9.23	9.74	9.78	0.175	0.308	NS				
Back	12.67 ^{ab}	12.16 ^b	13.61 ^a	12.69 ^{ab}	0.231	0.157	*				
Internal organs [percentage of live weight (%)]											
Gizzard	2.16	1.97	2.08	2.01	0.696	0.814	NS				
Heart	0.60	0.58	0.53	0.51	0.190	0.263	NS				
Liver	2.94 ^a	2.84 ^a	2.90 ^a	2.07 ^b	0.133	0.038	*				
Lungs	0.54 ^b	0.73 ^a	0.61 ^{ab}	0.61 ^{ab}	0.302	0.161	*				
Spleen	0.23	0.17	0.19	0.12	0.202	0.448	NS				

 Table 4.5 Carcass Characteristics of Broiler Chicken fed Sun-dried Orange and

 Pineapple Peels Based Diets Under Single Phase Feeding

 ab Means on the same row having different superscripts are significantly different (P<0.05)

SEM: Standard Error of Mean.

T1 = (control), T2(PP) = pineapple peel, T3(OP)=orange peel, T4(MPO) = mixture of orange and pineapple peels

(mixture of pineapple and orange peel) also had similar values (p>0.05). However, birds on T1 (control) was significantly (p<0.05) higher than the other treatments. Other parameters such as colour, appearance, juiciness, flavour and overall acceptability were not significantly influenced (p>0.05) by the peels based diets.

	Treatments									
Parameters	T1	T2	T3	T4	SEM	P/Values	L/S			
Colour	6.80	6.20	5.87	6.87	0.174	0.260	NS			
Juiciness	6.60	6.67	6.47	7.13	0.206	0.696	NS			
Appearance	7.00	647	6.33	7.00	0.179	0.424	NS			
Flavour	7.07	7.27	6.47	7.46	0.196	0.307	NS			
Aroma	7.33 ^b	6.80 ^{ab}	6.20 ^b	7.20 ^{ab}	0.176	0.097	*			
Tenderness	7.73 ^a	6.53 ^{ab}	6.33 ^{ab}	6.93 ^{ab}	0.226	0.128	*			
Over all	7.60	7.60	7.13	7.89	0.169	0.495	NS			
Acceptability										

Table 4.6 Sensory Evaluation of Broiler Chicken fed Sun-dried Orange andPineapple Peels Based Diets Under Single Phase Feeding

^{ab} Means in the same row having different superscripts are significantly different

(P<0.05) SEM=standard error of mean

T1=(control), T2(PP)=pineapple peel, T3(OP)=orange peel, T4(MPO)=mixture of orange and pineapple peels.

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Discussion

The proximate composition of the peels based diets used in this study met the nutrient requirements of the broiler chickens in the tropics as stated by (Olomu, 1995). Sweet orange peels, pineapple peels and their mixtures has a crude fibre (CF) range of 4.0 - 5.0 % as against 2.70 % in maize and metabolizable energy (ME) content of 3445.3 – 3531.4kcal/kg as against 3432.00 kcal/kg in maize by (Aduku, 2000). Dry matter (DM) values also ranged from 89.20 % in (pineapple peel) to 92.60 % in (mixture of pineapple and orange peels).

The growth performance of broiler chickens fed sun-dried orange and pineapple peels based diets indicated that treatments had effect on final weight, daily weight and feed conversion ratio (FCR), though there were no similarities among the results of birds on orange, pineapple peels and the control diets. This could be associated with the peels effects on enhancing the gastro intestinal enzyme thereby improving digestion and assimilation of nutrients. The birds fed the control (0 %) diet utilized the feed better than those on the orange and pineapple peels mixture. This is an indication that the control diet contains more essential nutrients as compared to the other treatments. The report of this research study is in accordance with the work of Ani et al., (2015) who stated that the effect of treatment on final weight and daily weight gain on broiler birds were significant (p<0.05) when pineapple peel waste. Birds on control diet (0% OP&PP) orange peel and pineapple peels had significantly (p<0.05) higher weight than those fed other diets. Aboh, et al. (2013) reported that final average live weight gains and feed conversion rate of growing rabbits were significantly influenced as inclusion level of pineapple peels increased. Moreover, Adeyemi, et al. (2010) and Fapohunda, et al. (2008) observed the same trend when using pineapple peels in the rabbits feed. This report is in agreement with the observation of Ngiki *et al.*, (2014) who included cassava root-leaf meal mixture in broiler diets and Eruvbetine *et al.* (2003) who included cassava leaf meal and cassava root meal (50:50) in the diets of broiler chickens. It had been reported that sweet orange and pineapple peels have higher crude fibre content than maize (Oluremi *et al.*, 2007). In addition, Nicolakakis *et al.* (1999), Ahaotu and Ekenyem (2009) observed that higher dietary fibre depresses weight gain in broiler chickens, thus, confirming the results of this experiment. The utilization of the sun dried peels based diets as replacement for maize depressed the performance of the birds and this negative effect became more severe at 5 % orange peel inclusion level. The biological performance of broiler chicks measured in terms of final weight (FW), daily weight gain, (DWG) was comparable to the control diet. Bibi *et al.* (2001) have reported significant weight gain in broiler chicken with diet containing citrus peel waste 5 %.

The nutrient digestibility of broilers fed orange, pineapple peels and their mixture indicated an improvement in dry matter, crude protein, ash, ether extract, nitrogen free extract (NFE) and total digestible nutrient (TDN) digestibility. This report agrees with the findings of Fafiolu *et al.* (2015) who observed that palm kernel extraction residue (PKER) had a significantly higher apparent digestibility on dry matter, crude protein, ether extract, ash, nitrogen free extract and metabolizable energy in Marshall broiler chickens. The significant difference observed in the dry matter digestibility with diet of 5.0 % orange peel having the lowest (78.78%) is in agreement with the report of Iyeghe-Erakpotobor *et al.* (2006), where dry matter digestibility obtained was lower than that recorded for the control diet (76%) but similar to that recorded with 50 % soybean cheese waste meal by the same author. The broiler chickens fed the control diet exhibited superiority in terms of crude protein, crude fibre and ether extract

digestibility compared to the groups fed the sun dried peel meals. This could be due to the effect of residual anti nutritional factors present in the sun dried peel meals. The presence of anti-nutritive factors and dietary fiber are some factors that can influence digestibility of feed Leeson and Summers, (2002).

The differences in carcass characteristics could be attributed to differences observed in the growth performance parameters in the present study. The low live weight of birds on orange peel could be as a result of fibre content of the peel based diets. This report is in agreement with Adeyemo and Longe (2007) who reported significant differences for live weight, plucked weight and dressed weight when broiler chickens were fed graded levels of pineapple waste based diets. The higher dressing percentage (T4 mixture of orange and pineapple peels) recorded in this study might be attributed to better utilization of the feed particularly the orange and pineapple mixtures. The values of dressing percentage (69.00-73.73 %) were comparable to the findings of Adeyemo and Longe (2007) who reported 65.63 - 73.33% for dressed weight when broiler chickens were fed graded levels of pineapple waste based diets. Also, the values were within the values (67.6 - 82.07 %) of dressing percentage reported by Zanu et al. (2017). Disproportionate growth, which favoured the growth of some parts at the expense of other parts, could be caused by diet (Hubbard, 2006) and a situation where there was no significant difference means that the diets were similar in value with respect to supporting carcass yield. Agu et al. (2010) observed a similarity in growth performance of finisher broiler chickens when even 20 % of maize was replaced by SOPM (sweet orange peels meal) in their diets. The author did not however shed light on effect of SOPM (sweet orange peels meal) on internal organs, but similarity among treatment groups suggests that 20 % SOPM (sweet orange peels meal) in diets of broiler chickens was a safe level.

The cut part and the internal organs such as drumsticks, back, liver and lungs were significantly influenced. Similar observation agrees was reported by Jiménez-Moreno *et al.* (2009) that inclusion of fibre increased the relative weight of the different segments of the gastro-intestinal tract in birds. This observation did not agree with the reports of (Fafiolu *et al.*, 2015).

The authors reported no significant differences in the weight of the cut-up parts, and harvested organs, and length of the GIT when palm kernel extraction residue (PKER) and palm kernel sludge (PKS) were fed to Marshall Broiler chickens. Also, this was contrary to the finding of Muhammad *et al.* (2015) who reported no significant differences in the values for cut–up parts expressed as percentage of slaughter weight. There was difference between groups for organ weight such as liver and lungs (%). This observation was contrary to the report of Noman *et al.* (2015) who observed no differences between groups in weight of liver, gizzard, heart, spleen or pancreas. This report was also not in agreement with Agu *et al.* (2010) who conducted a study to evaluate the effect of sweet orange peel meal (SOPM) as feed resource in broiler production. The authors found that the dietary SOPM (sweet orange peel meal) had no effect on the kidney, liver, heart, spleen, gall bladder and lung but had a significant effect on proventriculus and gizzard as the SOPM (sweet orange peels meal) level increased.

The dietary treatments influenced the aroma and tenderness of the meat, though there were similarities among the results of birds on orange, pineapple and mixture of orange and pineapple peels. The report is in accordance with the report of Omojola and Adesehinwa, (2007) who stated that aroma and tenderness are the two important parameters consumers consider when buying meat. (Haščík *et al.* 2011; 2013) found comparable results of sensory evaluation carried on chicken breast meat and thigh

muscles. Fat acts as a carrier and reservoir of aroma compounds, stimulates the senses during eating and acts as a precursor for flavour ventanas *et al.*, (2010). This report is in accordance with (Desmond, 2006) and Saint-eve *et al.* (2009) who stated that salt is included to enhance the tenderness and aroma of meat. This report in not in agreement with the observation of Ponte *et al.* (2008) who stated that subterranean clover pasture had no impact on tenderness, juiciness flavour of broiler meat.

5.2 Conclusion

Based on the results obtained from this study it can be concluded that:

- I. The utilization of the sun dried peels based diets as replacement for maize depressed the growth performance of the birds and this negative effect became more severe at 5 % orange peel inclusion level.
- II. The apparent nutrient digestibility revealed that orange, pineapple peel and their mixture had significant effect on the digestibility of the broiler chickens. Birds on 5 % sun dried orange peels was statistically better.
- III. Carcass characteristics indicated that birds fed the control diets had the highest live weight, and slaughter weight. However, the broiler chicken in the control group did not show any superiority statistically in term of drumstick, back, liver and lung with other treatment groups
- IV. Sensory properties showed that aroma and tenderness were influenced by the peels based diets. Breast meat from (T1) Control had the better aroma 7.33 and tenderness 7.73 which is statistically similar with the other treatment groups

5.3 Recommendations

Mixture of orange and pineapple peels should be encouraged so as to reduce the pressure on maize as indicated by nutrient digestibility, carcass characteristic and sensory evaluation.

The sun drying of orange and pineapple peels would improve the palatability and aroma of the feed.

Finally, further research should be carried out to establish an appropriate method of processing to apply to both orange and pineapple peels and the inclusion levels under which better results can be achieved.

REFERENCES

- Abbasi, H., Seidavi, A., Liu, W., & Asadpour, L., (2015). Investigation on the effect of different levels of dried sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) pulp on performance, carcass characteristics and physiological and biochemical parameters in broiler chicken. *Saudi Journal of Biological Science* 22:139–146.
- Aboh, A. B., Zoffoun, G. A., Djenontin, A. J. P., Babatounde, S., & Mensah, G. A. (2013). Effect of graded levels of dry pineapple peel on digestibility and growth performance of rabbit. *Journal of Animal Production*.33:233-236.
- Adeyemi, O.A., Ajado, A.O., Okubanjo, A.O., & Eniolorunda, O.O. (2010). Response of growing rabbits to graded levels of fermented and unfermented pineapple peel. *ejeafche*, 20:898-909.
- Adeyemo, G. O., & Longe, O. G., (2007). Effects of graded levels of cottonseed cake on performance, haematological and carcass characteristics of broilers fed from day old to 8 weeks of age. *Africa Journal of Biotechnology*, 6 (8): 1064-1071.
- Aduku, A.O. & Olukosi, J.O. (1990). Rabbit Management in the Tropics: Production, Processing, Utilization, Marketing, Economics, Practical Training, Research and Future Prospects. Living Book Series, Abuja, 24.
- Aduku, A.O., & Olukosi J.O. (2000). Animal Products: Processing and Handling in the Tropics. Living books series. *GU Publications Abuja Federal Capital Territory Nigeria*. Pp. 9-13.
- Afolayan, S.O., Makinde, A.A., Shuaib, M., Idris, B.A., Yaduma, J.J. & Yau, M. G. (2012) rainfall harvesting, a sustainable water management alternative for food security in Nigeria, *science journal of agricultural research and management* 276-636.
- Agu, P.N., Oluremi, O.I.A., & Tuleun, C.D. (2010). nutritional evaluation of sweet orange (Citrus sinensis) fruit peel as feed resource in broiler production. *International Journal of Poultry Science*; 9:684–688.
- Ahaotu, E. O. & Ekenyem, B. U. (2009). Replacement value of feather meal for fish meal on performance of finisher Broiler chicks. *International Journal of Tropic Agriculture and Food system*, 3(3), 233-237.
- Alavrez, R. & Liden, G. (2007). Semi-continuous co-digestion of solid slaughterhouse waste, manure and fruit and vegetable waste. *Renewable Energy*, 33: 726-734.
- Amakari, A. & Owen, O. (2011). Broiler chicken's growth rate in three different nocturnal lighting regimes. African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development, 11 (5): 1-8.
- Ani, A.O., Iloh, E.A., & Akinsola, O.O. (2015). Dietary Effect of Processed Orange Peels on Growth Performance of Broiler Finisher Birds. *British Journal of Applied Science & Technology* 9(6): 576-583.

- Ani, A.O., & Adiegwu, L.I. (2005). The feeding value of velvet beans (*Mucuna pruriens*) to weaner rabbits. *Proceeding of 30th Annual Conference Nigeria Society for Animal Production*. (NSAP), March 20th -24th, 2005, University of Nigeria, Nsukka, Nigeria pp.186-189.
- AOCA (2000). Official Methods of Analysis, Associations of Official Analytical Chemists.16th Edition. William Tryd Press
- Arthington, J.D., & Pate, F.M. (2001). Estimating the Value of Wet Citrus Pulp for Florida Cattlemen. EDIS document AN 108, Florida Coop. *Extension Service*, University of Florida, Gainesville.
- Ashbell, G., Weinberg, Z.G., & Arieli, A. (1988). Effect of blanching on loss reduction in orange peel storage. *Journal of Science and Food Agriculture*; 45:195–201.
- Babel, S., Fukushi. K. & Sitanrassamee, B. (2004). Effect of acid speciation on solid waste liquefaction in an anaerobic acid digester. *Water Research*, 38, 2417-2423.
- Bakshi, M.P.S, & Wadhwa, M. (2013). Nutritional evaluation of cannery and fruit wastes as livestock feed. *Indian Journal of Animal Sciences* 83:84–89.
- Ban-koffi, L. & Han, Y.W. (1990). Alcohol production from pineapple waste. World Journal Microbiology Biotechnology 6: 281-284.
- Bardiya, N., Somayaji, D., & Khanna, S. (1996). Biomethanation of banana peel and pineapple waste. *Bioresource Technology*, 58: 73–76.
- Bartholomew, D.P., Paul, R.E., & Rorbach, K.G. (2003). The pineapple 'Botany, Production and Uses'. University of Hawaii Manoa Honolulu, USA. http://bookshop.cabi.org/Uploads/ Books/PDF/978085995038/
- Baruwa, O.I., (2013). Profitability & constraints of pineapple production in Osun State, Nigeria. *Journal of Horticultural Research* 21:59–64. doi: 10.2478/johr-2013-0022.
- Bernardi, J., Licciardello, C., Russo, M.P., Chiusano, M. L., Carletti, G., Recupero, G. R., & Marocco, A. (2010). Use of a custom array to study differentially expressed genes during blood orange (*Citrus sinensis L. Osbeck*) ripening, *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 167: 301–310.
- Bhui, K., Prasad S., George, J., & Shukla, Y. (2009). Bromelain inhibits COX-2 expression by blocking the activation of MAPK regulated NF-kappa B against skin tumor-initiating triggering mitochondrial death pathway. *Cancer Letters*, 28: 167-176.
- Bibi, N. M.A., Chaudry, A., Badshah, A., Zeb, Z., Au, A. & Sattar, A (2001). Preliminary experiments on development of a technology for citrus waste utilization. II. Effects of dried citrus peel as rninor feed ingredient on egg yield Potential and quality of white leghorn layers. *Tue Nucleus* 38: 87-91.

- Borges, C.D., Chim, J.F., Leitão, A.M., Pereira, E., & Luvielmo, M.D.M. (2004).
 Produção de suco de abacaxi obtido a partir dos resíduos da indústria conserveira.
 Boletim do Centro de Pesquisa de Processamento de Alimentos, 22 (1), 23–34.
 doi:10.5380/cep. v22i1.1177
- Brito Neto, J.F., Pereira, W.E., Sobrinho, R.G.S., Barbosa, J.A., & Santos, D.P. (2008). Productive aspects of the family and commercial pineapple culture in the state of Paraíba. *Caatinga*, 21(4), 43–50.
- Cabrera, H.A.P., Menezes, H.C., Oliveira, J.V., & Batista, R.F.S. (2000). Evaluation of residual levels of benomyl, methyl parathion, diuron, and vamidothion in pineapple pulp and bagasse (Smooth cayenne). *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemist.* 48: 5750-5753.
- Chaudry, M.A., Badshah, A., Bibi, N., Zeb, C., Ahmed, T., & Ali, S. (2004). Citrus waste utilization in poultry rations. *Archiv fur Geflugelkunde* 68:206–210.
- Chobotava, K., Vernallis A.B., & Majid, F.A.A. (2009). Bromelain's activity and potential as an anti-cancer agent: Current evidence and perspectives. *Cancer Letters*. 290: 148-156.
- Correia, R.T.P., McCue P., Magalhaes, M.M.A., Macedo, G.R., & Shetty, K. (2004). Production of phenolic antioxidants by the solid-state bio-conversion of pineapple waste mixed with soy flour using Rhizopus oligosporus. *Process Biochemistry*, 39: 2167–2172.
- Costa, R.G., Correia, M.X.C., Da Silva J.H.V., De Medeiros, A.N., & De Carvalho, F.F.R. (2007). Effect of different levels of dehydrated pineapple by-products on intake, digestibility and performance of growing goats. *Small Ruminant Research*, 71: 138-143.
- Crawshaw, R. (2004). Co-product Feeds: Animal Feeds from the Food and Drinks Industries. Nottingham University Press, Nottingham, UK; pp 86-91
- Debnath, P., Dey, P., Chanda, A., & Bhakta, T.A. (2012). Survey on Pineapple and its medicinal value. *Scholars Academic Journal of Pharmacology* 1:22–29.
- Desmond, E. (2006). Reducing salt: A challenge for the meat industry. Meat Science 74: 188–196.
- Devakate, R.V., Patil, V.V., Waje S.S., & Throat B.N. (2009). Purification and drying of bromelain. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 64: 259-264.
- Dipeolu, B.A. (2004). Studies of enzymes supplementation and herbal preparation at different levels of energy on the performances of broilers. *Journal of International Academic*.; 3:53–58.
- Dutcosky, S. D. Análise Sensorial de Alimentos. Curitiba: Champagnat, (2007). Pp 210

- Ebrahimi A, Qotbi AAA, Seidavi AR, & Bahar B. (2014). The effects of dietary supplementation of (*Citrus sinensis*) peel extract on production and quality parameters of broiler chicken. *Journal of Applied Animal Research* 23:1–6.132
- Ebrahimi, A, Qotbi, A.A.A., & Seidavi AR. (2013). The effects of different levels of dried (*Citrus sinensis*) peel on broiler carcass quality. *Acta Science Veterinary*; 1141:1169.
- Ebrahimi, A., Qotbi, A.A.A., & Seidavi, A.R. (2012). The effect of different levels of *Citrus sinensis* peel extract on blood parameters of broiler chicken. *Annuals Journal of Biology Research* 3:3614–3620.
- Egbewande, O. O. (2009) A Survey on Consumption of Meat and Meat Products in Niger State, Nigeria. *Nigeria Journal of Animal Science*.12:175 183.
- Ehler, S. A. (2011) Citrus and its benefits, Journal of Botany, 5: 201-207.
- Eruvbetine, D., Tajudeen, I. D., Adeosun, A. T., & Olojede, A. A., (2003). Cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) leaf and tuber concentrate in diets for broiler chickens. *Bioresource Technology*, 86 (3): 277–281
- Fafiolu, A. O., Jegede, A. V., Teniola, A. A., Olarotimi, I. D., Odukoya, S. O., Alabi, J. O. & Oduguwa, O. O. (2015). Performance, Carcass characteristics and apparent nutrient digestibility of broiler chickens fed palm-kernel extraction by-products. *Nigerian Society for Animal Production* 42(1): 110 - 117.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2006). (FAO Statistics), http://faostat.fao.org/default.aspx;
- FAO (2013). Top ten producers of citrus fruit. Fao data. Rome.
- FAO (2015). FAOSTAT statistical database. Rome. Available from: URL: faostat.fao.org.
- Fapohunda, J.B., Iji, O., Makanjuola, B.A., & Omole, A.J. (2008). Effect of different levels of dry pineapple waste in the diet of growing rabbits. *Proceeding 33rd Annual Conference Nigeria Society of Animal Production* pp. 195–198.
- Ferrari, R.A., Colussi, F., & Ayub, R.A. (2004). Caracterização de subprodutos da industrialização do maracujá-aproveitamento das sementes. Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura, 26 (1), 101–102. doi:10.1590/S0100-29452004000100027
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2006). (FAO Statistics), http://faostat.fao.org/default.aspx;
- Gohl, B. (1982). Les aliments du be´ tail sous les tropiques. FAO, Division de Production et Sante´ Animale, Roma, Italy.
- Gohl, B. (1978). Citrus by-products for animal feed. In: Ruminant Nutrition, selected articles from the *World Animal Review*,

- Goudeau, D., Uratsu, S. L., Inoue, K., daSilva, F. G., Leslie, A., Cook, D., Reagan, L., & Dandekar, A. M. (2008). Tuning the orchestra: Selective gene regulation and orange fruit quality, *Plant Science*, 174, pp. 310–320.
- Guzmán, O., Lemus, C., Martínez, S., Bonilla, J., Plasencia, A., & Ly. J. (2012). Chemical characteristics of silages of mango (*Mangifera indica L.*) by products for animal feeding. *Cuban Journal Agriculture Science*. 46 (4): 369- 374.
- Hebbar, H.U., Sumana, B., & Raghavarao, K.S.M.S. (2008). Use of reverse micellar systems for the extraction and purification of bromelain from pineapple wastes. *Bioresource Technology*, 99: 4896–4902.
- Haščík, P., Čuboň, J., Elimam, I. O., Garlík, J., Kačániová, M., & Mohammed, H. A. (2011). Sensory evaluation of meat chickens Ross 308 after application of propolis in their nutrition. *Journal of Microbiology, Biotechnology and Food Sciences*, 2:192-186
- Haščík, P., Čuboň, J., Elimam, I. O., Garlík, J., Kačániová, M., & Mohammed, H. A. (2013). The influence of bee pollen on the meat chemical composition for broiler's Rosas' 308 muscles. *Journal of Microbiology, Biotechnology and Food Sciences*, 2:1128-1137.
- Hemalatha, R., & Anbuselvi, S. (2013). Physicochemical constituents of pineapple pulp and waste. *Journal of Chemistry and Pharmacology Research* 5:240–242.
- Hendrickson, R., & Kesterson, J.W. (1978). By products of Florida citrus. Composition, technology and utilization. Bulletin 698, *Agricultural Experimental Station, University of Florida*.
- Hepton, A., Hodgson, A.S., Bartholomew, D.P., Paul, R.E., & Rohrbach, K.G. (2003). editors. The Pineapple: Botany, Production and Uses. CABI Publishing Co, Cambridge, MA;2:45–49.
- Hon, F.M., Oluremi, O.I.A., & Anugwa, F.O.I. (2009) The effect of dried sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) fruit pulp meal on the growth performance of rabbits. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition* 8:1150–1155.
- Hossain, M.F., Shaheen, A., & Mustafa, A. (2015). Nutritional value and medicinal benefits of pineapple. *International Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences* 4:84– 88. doi: 10.11648/j.ijnfs.20150401.22
- Hubbard (2006). Evaluating Uniformity in Broilers Factors Affecting Variation. Hubbard Technical Bulletin. New Hampshire, USA.
- Hutagalung, R.I., Webb, B.H., & Jalaludin, S. (1973). Evaluation of agricultural products and by-products as animal feeds. The nutritive value of pineapple bran for chicks. *Malaysian Agricultural Research* 2:39–47.

- IBGE (2017). IBGE. Levantamento Sistemático da Produção Agrícola. Retrieved from <u>ftp://ftp.ibge.gov.br/Producao Agricola/Levantamento Sistematico da Producao</u> <u>Agricola [mensal]/Fasciculo/2015/lspa_201501.pdf</u>
- Ipinjolu, J.K. (2000). Performance of juvenile orange koi carp (Citrus carpio leanneaus) fed diets supplemented with Sweet orange peel meal: Body composition, Nutrient utilization and skin pigmentation. *Sokoto Journal of Veterinary Science*.33 (5): 228-229.
- Ipinloju, Z.A. (2000). Introduction to Poultry Production in Nigeria, Bodija, Oyo state.2000;18. 3rd edition 28(1):20
- Iyeghe-Erakpotobor, G.T., Osuhor, C.U., & Olugbemi, T.S. (2006). Performance and digestibility of weaner rabbits fed graded levels of soybean cheese waste/maize offal diet and brachiaria grass hay. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 5 (17): 1579-1583.
- Jiménez-Moreno, E., González-Alvarado, J. M., González-Serrano, A., Lázaro, R., & Mateos, G. G., (2009). Effect of dietary fiber and fat on performance and digestive traits of broilers from one to twenty-one days of age. *Poultry Science*, 88 (12): 2562-2574.
- Joy, P.P. (2010). Benefits and uses of pineapple. Pineapple Research Station, Kerala Agricultural University, Kerala, India. <u>https://www.kau.edu/prsvkm/Html/BenefitsofPA.htm</u>
- Jurgens, M.H., Lee, I., & Chiba. (2009). Poultry Nutrition and Feeding. Animal NutritionHandbook.;316.Available:http://www.ag.auburn.edu/~chibale/an12poult ryfeeding.pdf
- Kajo, T. (2012). Despite fruit juice factory, Benue fruits rot away. Sunday Trust, 6th May.
- King., N. & Whyte, R. (2006). Does it look cook? A review of factors that influence cooked meat colour. *Food science* 71:31-40.
- Kurosumi, A., Sasaki, C., Yamashita, Y., & Nakamura, Y. (2009). Utilization of various fruit juice as carbon source for production of bacterial cellulose by Acetobacter xylinum NBRC 13693. *CarbohydratePolymers*, 76: 333-335.
- Leeson., S. & Summers, J. D. (2002). Nutrition of the chicken.4th edition. University Books, Ontario, Canada.pp231
- López, J.A.S., Li, Q., & Thompson, I.P. (2010). Bio refinery of waste orange peel. *Critical Revision Biotechnology.*, 30: 63-69.
- Louw, A., Schoeman, J., & Geyser, A. (2011). Broiler industry supply chain study with emphasis on feed and feed-related issues. University of Pretoria, NAMC reports. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ifama.org/events/conferences/2011</u>.

- Malik, A. A., Ibrahim, M. J., Kudu, Y. S. Jibogun, O. P., Adeniyi, Y. I. & Solomon, I. K. (2010). Growth performance, nutrient digestibility, carcass and economic characteristics of turkey poults fed millet- based diets as a replacement for maize. *Nigerian Journal of Animal Production* 41 (1): 91 99.
- Mainoo, N.O.K., Barrington, S., Whalen, J.K., & Sampedro, L. (2009). Pilot-scale vermicomposting of pineapple wastes with earthworms native to Accra, Ghana. *Bio-resource Technology*, 100: 5872-5875.
- Makinde, O.A., Odeyinka, S. M., & Ayandiran S. K. (2011). Simple and quick method for recycling pineapple waste into animal feed. Livestock Research for Rural Development, 23 (9) Art. #188. Retrieved from http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd23/ 9/maki23188.htm.
- Maurer, H.R. (2001). Bromelain: biochemistry, pharmacology and medical use. *Cell Molecular Life Science*, 58: 1234–1245.
- Mbuligwe, S.E., & Kassenga, G.R. (2004). Feasibility and strategies for anaerobic digestion of solid waste for energy production in Dar es Salaam City, Tanzania. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 42:183-203
- McDonald, P, Edwards R.A., Green halgh J.F.D., & Morgan, C.A. (1995). Animal Nutrition 5th Edition Longman Group Ltd. United Kingdom. Pp. 444-510.
- Morgado, I.F., Aquino, C.N.P., & Terra, D.C.T. (2004). Aspectos econômicos da cultura do abacaxi: sazonalidade de preços no Estado do Rio de Janeiro. *Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura*, 26 (1), 44–47. doi:10.1590/S0100-29452004000100013.
- Mourao, J.L., Pinheiro, V.M., Prates, J.A.M., Bessa, R.J.B., Ferreira, L.M.A., & Fontes, C.M.G., (2008). Effect of dietary dehydrated pasture and citrus pulp on the performance and meat quality of broiler chickens. *Poultry Science* 87:733–743.
- Müller, Z. O. (1978). Feeding potential of pineapple waste for cattle. Revue Mondiale de Zootechnie 25:25-29.
- Muhammad, A. I. S. B., Adamu, N. K., Alade, A. B. Amin & Abdulazeez, H. (2015). Studies on Haematology and Serum Biochemistry of Broiler Chickens Finished on an Unprocessed and Processed Velvet Bean (*Mucuna Pruriens* (*L*.)) as Dietary Protein Sources. *Biokemistri* (An International Journal of the Nigerian Society for Experimental Biology) 27(2): 68 – 75.
- Musa, H.H., Chen, G.H., Cheng, J.H., Li, B.C., & Mekki, D.M. (2006). Study on carcass characteristics of chickens breeds raised under the intensive condition. *International Journal of poultry Science* 5(6):530-533.
- Nam, I.S., Garnsworthy, P.C., & Ahn, J.H. (2009). Effects of freeze-dried citrus peel on feed preservation, aflatoxin contamination and in vitro ruminal fermentation. *Asian Australasian Journal of Animal Science* 22:674–680.

- Nazok, A., & Rezaei, M. (2010). Effect of different levels of dried citrus pulp on performance, egg quality, and blood parameters of laying hens in early phase of production. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 42:737–742.
- Negesse, T., Makkar H.P.S., & Becker, K. (2009). Nutritive value of some nonconventional feed resources of Ethiopia determined by chemical analyses and in vitro gas method. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 154: 204-217.
- Ngiki, Y.U., Igwebuike, J.U., & Moruppa, S.M. (2014). Utilization of Cassava Products for Poultry Feeding: A Review. *International Journal of Science and Technology* 2 (6): 48-59.
- Nicolakakis, I., Dotas, D., & Imamidou, A. (1999). Digestibility and energy value of pig diets containing different levels of dried citrus pulp with enzymes. *Epitheorese Zootehnikes Epistemes*, 26, 43-54.
- Nicolosi, E., Deng, Z. N., Gentile, A., La Malfa, S., Continella, G., & Tribulato, E. (2008). Citrus phylogeny and genetic origin of important species as investigated by molecular markers, *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 100 (8) 1155-1166.
- Noman, Z. A., Hasan, S., Talukder, Y. A., Sarker, T. K., Paul M. M. & Sikder, M. H. (2015). Effects of garlic extract on growth, carcass characteristics and haematological parameters in broilers. *The Bangladesh Veterinarian* 32 (1):1-61.
- Nunes, M.C.N., Emond, J.P., Rauth, M., Dea, S., & Chau, K. V. (2009). Environmental conditions encountered during typical consumer retail display affect fruit and vegetable quality and waste. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 51: 232-241.
- Olomu, J.M. (1995). Monogastric Animal Nutrition Principles and Practice. A Jachem publication, Benin City, Nigeria, pp.320.
- Oluremi, O.I.A., Andrew, I.A., & Ngi, J. (2007). Evaluation of nutritive polential of the peels of some citrus fruit varieties as feeding stuffs in livestock production., *Pakistan Journal of animal Nutrition*, 6, 653-656
- Oluremi, O.I.A., Okafor, F.N., Adenkola, A.Y., & Orayaga, K.T. (2010). Effect of fermentation of sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) fruit peel on its phytonutrients and the performance of broiler starter. International Journal of Poultry Science 9:546–549.
- Omojola., A. B & Adesehinwa., A.O.K (2007). Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Broiler Chicken Fed Diets Supplemented with Graded levels of Roxazyme G[®]. *International Journal of Poultry Science* 6 (5): 335-339.
- Onwuka, C.F.I., Adetiloye, P.O., & Afolami, C. A. (1997). Use of household wastes and crop residues in small ruminants feeding in Nigeria. *Small Ruminant Research*, 24: 233-237.
- Orayaga, K.T., Oluremi, O.I.A., & Kaankuka, F.G. (2010). Effect of water soaking of sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) fruit peel on its chemical composition and growth

performance of broiler starter chicks. *Animal Production Research Advance*. 6(4): 311 – 314.

- Orayaga, K.T., Oluremi, O.I.A., Tuleun, C.D., & Carew, S.N. (2015a). The feed value of composite mango (*Mangifera indica*) fruit reject meal in the starter broiler chickens' nutrition. *African Journal Food Science Technology*, 6(6): 170-176.
- Orayaga, K.T., Oluremi, O.I.A., Tuleun, C.D., & Carew, S.N. (2015b). The feed value of composite mango (*Mangifera indica*) fruit reject meal in the finisher broiler chickens' nutrition. *African Journal Food Science Technology*, 6(6): 177-184.
- Pawlowsky, U. (2000). Minimização de resíduos na indústria de alimentos: revisão. Boletim do Centro de Pesquisa de Processamento de Alimentos, 18 (2), 221–236. doi:10.5380/cep. v18i2.1212
- Pelizer, L.H., Pontieri, M.H., & Moraes, I. de O. (2007). Utilização de Resíduos Agro-Industriais em Processos Biotecnológicos como Perspectiva de Redução do Impacto Ambiental. *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation*, 2 (1), 118–127.
- Pereira, E.S., Regadas Filho, J. G. L., Freitas, E. R., Neiva J. N. M., & Candid M. J. D. (2009). Energetic value from by-product of the Brazil agro industria. Archivos de Zootecnia, 58: 455–458.
- Piccinelli, A. L., Mesa, M. G., Armenteros, D. M., Alfonso, M. A., Arevalo, A. C., Campone, L., & Rastrelli, L. (2008). HPLC-PDA-MS and NMR Characterization of C-Glycosyl Flavones in a Hydro Alcoholic Extract of Citrus aurantifolia Leaves with Antiplatelet Activity, *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemist*. 56: 1574–1581.
- Ponte, P. I. P., Alves, S. P., Bessa, R. J. B., Ferreira, L. M. A., Gama, L. T., Bras, J. L. A., Fontes, C. M. G. A, & Prates, J. A. M. (2008). Influence of pasture intake on the fatty acid composition, and cholesterol, tocopherols, and tocotrienols content in meat from free-range broilers. *Poultry Science.*, 87 (1): 80-88
- Rani, D.S., and Nand, K. (2004). Ensilage of pineapple processing waste for methane generation. Waste Management, 24: 523-528.
- Saint-Eve, A., Martin, N., Guillemin, H., Semon, E., Guichard, E., & Souchon, I. (2006) Flavored yogurt complex viscosity influences real-time aroma release in the mouth and sensory properties. *Journal of Agriculture Food Chemist* 54:7794– 7803
- SAS (2015). Statistical Analysis System, Computer Software, SAS/STAT User's Guide Version 9. *Statistical Analysis Systems Institute*, Cary, North Carolina 27513, USA.
- Schieber, A., Stintzing, F.C., & Carle, R. (2001). By-products of plant food processing as a source of functional compounds-recent developments. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 12: 401-413.

- Silva, A. G., Wanderley, R. C., Pedroso, A. F. & Ashbell, A. (2016). Rumen digestion kinetics of citrus peel. *Animal Feed Science Technology*, 68: 247 257.
- Sruamsiri, S. (2007). Agricultural wastes as dairy feed in Chiang Mai. *Animal Science Journal* 78:335–341.
- Tanaka, K., Hilary, Z. D., & Ishizaki, A. (1999). Investigation of the utility of pineapple juice and pineapple waste material as low cost substrate for ethanol fermentation by Zymomonas mobilis. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 87: 642-646.
- Timofiecsyk, F.D.R., & Pawlowsky, U. (2000). Minimização de resíduos na indústria de alimentos: revisão. Boletim do Centro de Pesquisa de Processamento de Alimentos, 18 (2), 221–236. doi:10.5380/cep. v18i2.1212
- Tran, A.V. (2006). Chemical analysis and pulping study of pineapple crown leaves. Industrial Crops and Products, 24: 66-74.
- Tuleun, C.D., Adenkola, A.Y., & Orayaga, K.T. (2011). Natural fermented Mucuna seed meal based diets: Effect on performance and carcass characteristics of broiler chickens. *Research Journal Poultry Science*. 4(4): 50 – 55.
- Ventanas, S., Solomando, J.C., Antequera, T., & Perez-Palacios, T. (2008) Sensory profile and consumer perception of meat products enriched with EPA and DHA using fish oil microcapsules. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 56(5):453-462
 - Wang, C.H., Lin P. J., & Chang J. S. (2006). Fermentative conversion of sucrose and pineapple waste into hydrogen gas in phosphate-buffered culture seeded with municipal sewage sludge. *Process Biochemistry*, 41: 1353-1358.
 - Weltzien, M.E. (2009). Nutrition and management of the broiler for superior carcass quality. Retrieve from <u>http://www.poultryindustrycouncil.ca/pdfs/factsheets/fs</u><u>134.pdf</u>.
 - Wing, J.M., (2003). Citrus Feedstuffs for Dairy Cattle. *Florida Agricultural Experimental Station*. Bull. 829. Gainesville. Available at: http:// edis.ifas.ufl.edu
 - Xu, Q., Chen, L. L., Ruan, X., Chen, D., Zhu, A., Chen, C., & Bertrand *et al.*, D. (2013). The draft genome of sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*), Nature Genetics vol. 45, No. 1, pp. 59-68.
 - Yang, S.J., & Chung, C.C. (1985). Feeding value of dried citrus by products fed to layer. *Korean Journal of Animal Science* 27:239–245.
 - Zanu, H. K., Azameti, M. K., & Asare, D. (2017). Effects of dietary inclusion of cassava root flour in broiler diets on growth performance, carcass characteristic and haematological parameters. *International Journal of Livestock Production* 8 (3): 28-32.